THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appeal No. 2020-001095

---

**RECEIVED**

OCT 23 2020

SC Court of Appeals

Joseph Abruzzo,..... Respondent,

v.

Bravo Media Productions LLC; Haymaker  
Media, Inc.; NBCUniversal Media, LLC;  
Comcast Corporation; Craig Conover; Chelsea  
Meissner; and Madison LeCroy,..... Appellants.

---

**INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS**

---

MCANGUS GOUDELICK AND COURIE

Helen F. Hiser  
James D. Smith  
Danielle F. Payne  
P.O. Box 650007  
Mount Pleasant, South Carolina 29465  
(843) 576-2900

*Attorneys for Appellants*

**

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. WHETHER TO THE EXTENT THE CIRCUIT COURT LIMITED ITS REVIEW TO THE FOUR CORNERS OF THE AMENDED COMPLAINT, THAT WAS MANIFEST LEGAL ERROR?
- II. WHETHER UNDER NEW YORK AND SOUTH CAROLINA LAW, PUBLIC POLICY STRONGLY FAVORS HOLDING PARTIES TO THE TERMS OF THEIR AGREEMENTS?
- III. WHETHER THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO ENFORCE THE PARTIES' VALID EXCLUSIVE FORUM SELECTION CLAUSE OF THE RELEASE AND ARBITRATION AGREEMENT?
- IV. WHETHER, IN THE EVENT THIS COURT FINDS THAT THE PARTIES' ARBITRATION AGREEMENT IS NOT ENFORCEABLE, PLAINTIFF'S AMENDED COMPLAINT SHOULD BE DISMISSED BASED ON THE VALID AND ENFORCEABLE EXCLUSIVE FORUM SELECTION CLAUSE?

This appeal concerns the denial of Appellants' Bravo Media Productions LLC, Haymaker Media, Inc., NBCUniversal Media, LLC, Comcast Corporation, Craig Conover, Chelsea Meissner and Madison LeCroy's, Defendants below,<sup>1</sup> Motion to Dismiss Plaintiff's Amended Complaint and for Order Compelling Arbitration, and their subsequent motion for reconsideration. Appellee Joseph Abruzzo, Plaintiff below ("Abruzzo" or "Plaintiff") is a well-educated, sophisticated, and self-proclaimed successful Florida politician and consultant, who resides in Florida and, at all times relevant to this appeal, was a director for public relations for a major Florida law firm. In the fall of 2018, Abruzzo pursued a romantic relationship with Kathryn Dennis ("Dennis"), one of the main cast members on the long-running hit reality television show, *Southern Charm* ("the Program" or "*Southern Charm*"), with full knowledge that Season Six of the Program was being filmed at the time. Prior to being filmed for the Program, Abruzzo voluntarily signed a three-page Appearance Release, Voluntary Participation, and Arbitration Agreement ("Release and Arbitration Agreement" or "Agreement"), which contains both a prominent and unambiguous agreement to arbitrate any disputes that arose out of the Agreement ("Arbitration Agreement") and a separate exclusive forum selection clause, both of which are valid and enforceable, and require dismissal of Plaintiff's claims in South Carolina state court.

#### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

Plaintiff filed a Complaint and Summons on January 28, 2020 ("Complaint") in the Charleston County Court of Common Pleas, alleging ten causes of action against Defendants, including: Outrage/Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress; Fraud; Constructive Fraud;

---

<sup>1</sup> Where necessary for clarification, Appellants Bravo Media Productions LLC, Haymaker Media, Inc., NBCUniversal Media, LLC, and Comcast Corporation are referenced herein as the "Corporate Defendants," and Appellants Craig Conover, Chelsea Meissner, and Madison LeCroy are referenced herein as the "Individual Defendants."

Negligent Misrepresentation; Fraudulent Inducement; Civil Conspiracy; Defamation; Violation of the South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act; Negligence; and, Unjust Enrichment. Plaintiff sought damages in excess of \$10,000,000, treble damages and costs and fees. (Complaint, filed Jan. 28, 2020).<sup>2</sup>

Defendants filed a Motion to Dismiss on May 12, 2020, and a corresponding Defendants' Memorandum in Support of Motion to Dismiss Plaintiff's Complaint and for Order Compelling Arbitration on June 19, 2020. On that same date, Plaintiff filed a 50-page Amended Complaint, which realleged his earlier causes of action and added seven additional, and often duplicative, purported causes of action entitled: Wrongful Appropriation of Personality/Infringement on the Right of Publicity; Wrongful Publicizing of Private Affairs; Public Nuisance; Private Nuisance; Fraudulent Inducement of Arbitration Agreement/Unconscionability of Arbitration Agreement; and, Fraudulent Inducement of Release/Unconscionability of Release; and Rescission of "Release and Arbitration Agreement," again seeking damages in excess of \$10,000,000, treble damages and costs and fees. (Amended Complaint, filed June 19, 2020). Plaintiff also filed a one-paragraph response to Defendants' Motion to Dismiss, arguing that that Motion was moot in light of his Amended Complaint. (Plaintiff's Response to Defendants' Motion to Dismiss, filed June 19, 2020).

Defendants filed a Motion to Dismiss Plaintiff's Amended Complaint and for Order Compelling Arbitration on June 22, 2020, and a corresponding Memorandum in Support on June 29, 2020 ("Memo in Support"). Plaintiff filed a Memorandum in Opposition to Defendants'

---

<sup>2</sup> Plaintiff served the Defendants on different dates ranging from March 13, 2020 to April 13, 2020. Pursuant to the April 3, 2020 Order of The Supreme Court of South Carolina addressing Operation of the Trial Courts During the Coronavirus Emergency, the due dates for Defendants to respond were extended automatically.

Motion to Dismiss Amended Complaint also on June 29, 2020, and the parties were heard by the Honorable Bentley Price the following day, on June 30, 2020.

Judge Price issued a Form 4 Order on July 6, 2020, ruling Defendants' "motion to Dismiss and Motion for order compelling arbitration are denied." Defendants first requested that the Circuit Court issue a detailed written order setting forth the reasons for its denial, (Defendants' July 8, 2020 letter to the Honorable Bentley Price), which Plaintiff vociferously opposed. (Plaintiff's July 9, 2020 letter to the Honorable Bentley Price). Judge Price's law clerk advised, with respect to the initial Form 4 Order, "we did a form 4, and I believe it indicated that if the parties desired formal orders they could submit them to us. If it did not include that part I apologize." (Email from Julie Beeks to counsel dated July 15, 2020). Defendants then moved the Court for Reconsideration pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRPC on July 16, 2020, which the Court denied, again issuing a Form 4 Order on July 22, 2020 that simply stated, "The Defendant's Motion for Reconsideration is DENIED. A hearing is not necessary."

Defendants timely appealed to this Court

### **BACKGROUND FACTS**

#### **A. Plaintiff's Amended Complaint.**

*Southern Charm* (referred to herein interchangeably as "*Southern Charm*," or "the Program") is a hit, long-running reality television show that features the professional and personal lives of various Charleston residents "and reveals a world of exclusivity, money and scandal." Defendant Haymaker produces the Program. The Program airs on the Bravo network, which is indirectly owned by Defendant NBCUniversal.<sup>3</sup> The Individual Defendants are or were regular cast members on the Program. (Amended Complaint ¶¶ 2-10, 34).

---

<sup>3</sup> Defendant NBCUniversal is indirectly owned by Defendant Comcast.

The Amended Complaint details at length Plaintiff's education, extensive background in public office in Florida, and work in government relations, currently while employed at a major Florida law firm. After graduating from Lynn University with a Bachelors of Arts in International Communications and a Minor in International Business, Abruzzo served in the U.S. Coast Guard Reserve and then was elected to the Florida House of Representatives. Abruzzo served in various positions and boards, including but not limited to the Finance and Tax Counsel, the Economic Affairs Committee, the Business and Consumer Affairs Subcommittee, and has been a member of the Insurance, Business and Financial Affairs Policy Committee, the Economic Development & Community Affairs Policy Counsel, the Finance and Tax Counsel, and the Government Operations Appropriations Committee. Abruzzo presided over Palm Beach County Consumer Affairs cases involving alleged unfair and deceptive business practices. He alleges he received numerous awards and accolades. Abruzzo alleges that, for years he worked as a federal lobbyist for the Chesapeake Petroleum and Supply Company based in Gaithersburg, Maryland, for which service he was paid \$15,000 per month. Abruzzo alleges he was terminated from that lobbying position "shortly after the airing of the Southern Charm episodes discussing and featuring Plaintiff Abruzzo." Although the Amended Complaint asserts that Plaintiff currently is "employed as a director of government relations for a major law firm in Florida," (*id.* ¶¶ 12-29), he is a nominee for and considered the presumptive winner of the race for Clerk of Court for Palm Beach County, Florida.<sup>4</sup>

Plaintiff alleges that *Southern Charm* is a "reality" television show that has aired nationally and internationally since 2014. (*Id.* ¶ 32). Plaintiff further alleges that, although promoted as a "reality" show, *Southern Charm* "consists of false conflict and scenarios that are fabricated and/or contrived by the Corporate Defendants," and that cast members "are directly provoked,

---

<sup>4</sup> <https://gotowncrier.com/2020/06/abruzzo-likely-to-succeed-bock-as-county-clerk/>

encouraged, instigated, and/or orchestrated by the Corporate Defendants, with the individual cast members['] agreement, coordination, and cooperation, to elicit drama and conflict,” in order to promote a storyline. (*Id.* ¶¶ 33-34). While earlier seasons depicted the relationship between long-time cast members Thomas Ravenel (“Ravenel”) and Dennis, Abruzzo alleges the “need for a new ‘storyline’ for Dennis became apparent,” after it was announced that Ravenel would not return to *Southern Charm* for the sixth season of the Program. According to Abruzzo, part of that “new storyline [for Dennis] was to include a new love interest.” (*Id.* ¶¶ 35-38).

Abruzzo alleges he met Dennis in the fall of 2018 at a Miami Dolphins game, after which they began a romantic relationship. (*Id.* ¶ 41). Abruzzo was aware that he was pursuing a romantic relationship with a current cast member on *Southern Charm* while the sixth season of the Program was being filmed, as “Dennis almost immediately began imploring Plaintiff Abruzzo to be on the show, telling Abruzzo that if she were to get married, she believed the Corporate Defendants would pay big money for rights to televise her wedding, honeymoon, an exclusive, and other things of that nature.” (*Id.* ¶ 42). Abruzzo agreed to be a voluntary participant on the Program and established the circumstances under which he would participate. He alleges that, although the Corporate Defendants wanted him to go on a “guy’s trip,” or to go on a dinner date with Dennis at a “public and crowded restaurant,” he “declined any such outing or event,” and “[u]ltimately Plaintiff decided he would allow a private dinner at Dennis’s residence in downtown Charleston to be filmed by the Corporate Defendants.” (*Id.* ¶¶ 43-44, 61). Abruzzo alleges that, prior to and following filming, certain verbal representations were made to him about how he would be portrayed on the Program. (*Id.* ¶¶ 47-54).

Abruzzo has admitted that, prior to being filmed for the Program, he was given and signed a three-page Release and Arbitration Agreement. Although Abruzzo initially alleged that he was

presented with a document for his signature, “turned to the third page,” (Complaint ¶ 53), after Defendants filed their Motion to Dismiss and Supporting Memorandum, Abruzzo changed his story to allege that he was presented with a “partial piece of paper with only the signature portion of the page visible,” which he nonetheless signed without reading based on purported representations by the Corporate Defendants and/or their agents that the document “simply authorized filming of [Abruzzo and Dennis’s] dinner.” (Amended Complaint ¶¶ 48, 50-54). Abruzzo alleges that he felt pressure from both Dennis and the Corporate Defendants “to participate in the filming of the dinner” and “to begin filming” because “it would be a great thing for” his then girlfriend Dennis. (*Id.* ¶ 42, 52-53). The Amended Complaint alleges that there was no conflict between him and Dennis during the dinner and that the Defendants did not “state, suggest, or imply that he would be portrayed in a negative and/or false light.” (*Id.* ¶¶ 49, 55, 61-62).

Abruzzo alleges that the relationship between himself and Dennis ended in early 2019, and that the Corporate Defendants “later falsely claim[ed] that Dennis ended the relationship with Plaintiff Abruzzo as a result of the concern expressed by other cast members about Plaintiff Abruzzo,” which claim he asserts is false and was “designed and intended to defame, disparage, and/or portray Plaintiff Abruzzo as an unsafe, corrupt, abusive and/or otherwise unsavory individual in order to preserve and further Dennis’s storyline and reputation at Plaintiff’s expense.” (*Id.* ¶¶ 70-72).

In particular, Abruzzo alleges that false statements were made about him in episode three of *Southern Charm* “in order to further the storylines” for the Program, including a statement by Defendant Conover to the effect that Plaintiff is “‘a disgraced politician in Florida’ and ‘He’s not running for re-election because of his divorce. His wife is accusing him of being physically

abusive.” Pursuant to the Amended Complaint, these statements were elicited by Defendant Meissner, who was “prompted and/or encouraged by” the Corporate Defendants for the purpose of disparaging, defaming and otherwise portraying him “in a false light in order to create and further the storylines involved in *Southern Charm*.” (*Id.* ¶¶ 58-59, 72).

Abruzzo alleges that, in an episode following his dinner date with Dennis, Defendants LeCroy and Meissner, along with other individuals, falsely stated there were nude photographs of Plaintiff in the public domain. The Amended Complaint alleges that certain cast members “Googled” and discussed photographs of Plaintiff—photographs that had been posted online by third parties unrelated to Defendants and were publicly available at the time of filming. The Amended Complaint also notes that a photo of Abruzzo is shown during the episode with “the image blurred at the bottom of his torso.” Plaintiff alleges the conversation about the photographs was prompted and/or encouraged by the Corporate Defendants “in order to falsely state, depict, or imply they were viewing a photo in which they could see Plaintiff Abruzzo’s penis or ‘pecker.’” Such photos do not exist, nor are they in the public domain to be viewable simply by a Google Search,” and that the blurring of the bottom of the photograph was malicious and was intended to imply falsely that “photos of Plaintiff Abruzzo’s genitals exist, were viewed by the individual Defendants and/or Corporate Defendants.” (*Id.* ¶¶ 63-69).

Abruzzo alleges that all of the purportedly false statements about him were made on *Southern Charm* either in order to further a storyline and “create dramatic material for consumption by the viewers of the ‘reality’ show *Southern Charm* in the United States and worldwide,” (*Id.* ¶¶ 57-59, 65-66, 72, 74), or “to defame, disparage, or otherwise harm the Plaintiff.” (*Id.* ¶¶ 59, 69, 75). As a result of these statements and other actions alleged to have been taken by Defendants, Abruzzo filed his Amended Complaint in South Carolina state court.

B. The Appearance Release, Voluntary Participation, and Arbitration Agreement.

In connection with his appearance on *Southern Charm*, Plaintiff concedes that, on October 30, 2018, prior to being filmed, he signed the Release and Arbitration Agreement. Pursuant to the Release and Arbitration Agreement, Abruzzo agreed to be a voluntary participant “[i]n exchange for the opportunity to be part of the program currently titled ‘Southern Charm’ (the ‘Program’).” All of the Defendants are parties to the Release and Arbitration Agreement. Pursuant to its terms, Defendant NBCUniversal Media, LLC, is designated as the Network, and Defendants Comcast Corporation and Bravo Media Productions LLC, as affiliated entities, are also parties to the Release and Arbitration Agreement; Haymaker Media, Inc is designated as the Producer; and the Individual Defendants are express intended third party beneficiaries of the Release and Arbitration Agreement. (Agreement ¶¶ 17, 21).<sup>5</sup>

In Paragraph 6 of the Release and Arbitration Agreement, Abruzzo agreed that he would “not be paid for any and all of the rights listed in this Agreement and waive any right I may have to any compensation. I acknowledge and agree that a significant element of the consideration I am receiving under this Agreement is the opportunity for publicity that I will receive if Producer includes the Materials in the Program ...”

In Paragraph 8, Abruzzo agreed that he understood “that I or other parties may communicate private, factual, or fictional information about myself that I might find humiliating or embarrassing or that is defamatory, disparaging or unfavorable and that the depiction of such information may portray me in a false light. I consent to the inclusion of this information in the Program and the exploitation of the Materials even to the extent such inclusion might otherwise

---

<sup>5</sup> For purposes of resolving this appeal, the only relevant provisions of the Release and Arbitration Agreement are Paragraphs 19 and 20; however, given that Plaintiff improperly focused on other provisions of that Agreement in his attack on the Arbitration Agreement, they are set forth below for the Court’s ease of reference.

constitute an actionable tort.”<sup>6</sup> In addition, in Paragraph 9, Plaintiff acknowledged that, “[f]or dramatic or creative purposes, Producer and Network may make misrepresentations to me related to any and all topics, prior to and during the course of my participation. I consent to and assume all risks of such acts and omissions regardless of whether they may infringe upon my rights or give rise to a claim.”

In Paragraph 12 of the Release and Arbitration Agreement, entitled “**CONFIDENTIALITY AND PUBLICITY**,” Abruzzo promised he would not disclose any information or materials about Producer, the Network this Agreement, the Program, its participants, location(s), events and outcomes, that I learn from my Program participation (collectively, the ‘Confidential Information’), unless such Confidential Information is specifically disclosed in the Program exhibition, if ever.” It also provides that “[a]ny breach by me of any of these confidentiality and publicity provisions would cause Producer and Network irreparable injury and damage that cannot be reasonably or adequately compensated by damages in an action at law. I agree that Producer and Network will be entitled to injunctive and other equitable relief (without posting bond) to prevent or cure any such breach or threatened breach.” Acknowledging the difficulty of proving damages for such a breach, Abruzzo agreed “to pay Producer and Network the sum of \$500,000 per breach plus disgorgement of any income that I may receive in connection with any such breach as liquidated damages.”

Paragraph 17 of the Release and Arbitration Agreement, entitled “**RELEASE, AGREEMENT NOT TO SUE AND INDEMNITY**,” provides, in pertinent part, as follows:

**To the maximum extent permitted by law, I ... agree to release from liability, never sue, and bring no proceedings of any kind against Producer, Network, and/or any of their parents, subsidiaries, assignees, licensees, affiliates or anyone associated with the Program (the “Released Parties”) for any claims, actions, damages, losses, costs,**

---

<sup>6</sup> In Paragraph 2, Abruzzo “waive[d] any right to object to any use (including any editing/dubbing/fictionalization) of the Materials by Producer or Network for any reason.”

expenses or causes of action whatsoever that in any way relate to this Agreement, my participation in the production of the Program, or the creation, use, or exhibition of the Materials, the Program or the Promotions, on any legal theory (including without limitation, failure to adequately compensate me, infliction of emotional distress, personal injury, rights of privacy and publicity, defamation, or false light), regardless of whether caused by the negligence or willful misconduct of the Released Parties (collectively, the "Released Claims"). I will defend and indemnify the Released Parties from any Released Claims and any breach or alleged breach by me (including breaches by me of this paragraph 17) relating to this Agreement. I shall be liable for any attorney fees and costs incurred by the released Parties in connection with any claim or lawsuit I may bring in violation of this Agreement."

Paragraph 19 of the Release and Arbitration Agreement contains the Arbitration Agreement, is entitled "MEDIATION & ARBITRATION," and provides, in pertinent part, as follows:

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