RECEIVED

May 19 2021

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Bentley D. Price, Circuit Court Judge

Appeal No. 2020-001095

Joseph Abruzzo, Respondent,

v.

Bravo Media Productions LLC, Haymaker Media, Inc., NBC Universal
Media, LLC, Comcast Corporation, Craig Conover, Chelsea Meissner, and
Madison LeCroy, Appellants.

AMENDED FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Edwards Firm, LLC
Aaron E. Edwards
755 Johnnie Dodds Blvd
Mt. Pleasant, South Carolina 29464
Phone: (843) 375-2008

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

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

S.C. 425, 432, 513 S.E.2d 123, 126 (Ct.App.1999). The stipulation will be deemed a penalty if it “is so large that it is plainly disproportionate to any probable damage resulting from breach of contract.” *Lewis v. Premium Inv. Corp.*, 351 S.C. 167, 172, 568 S.E.2d 361, 363 (2002).

¹⁶ *See generally* R. pp. 45-48, Arbitration Agreement, ¶¶ 1, 6, 8-9, 10, 11, 12-15, 17, 19-21; Am Compl. ¶¶ 167-223.

The provision prohibiting Plaintiff from seeking or obtaining injunctive relief contravene state statutory and common law remedies otherwise provided to Plaintiff.¹⁷ Further, the term “dispute” in paragraph 19 is undefined, it is unlimited in duration and, it appears, in scope, and purports to mandate an unenforceable clause requiring a New York forum. The fact that the Defendants explicitly rely upon the “release” provision of paragraph 17 to bootstrap the Individual Defendants into arbitration, which purports to exculpate the Individual Defendants and unknown third parties from any claims for damages *of any kind, even for illegal or intentional acts*, at any time, ever, illustrates the true effect and intent behind their desire to compel arbitration. It is *not* geared towards achieving an “unbiased decision by a neutral decision-maker.” *Simpson*, 373 S.C. at 25, 644 S.E.2d at 668–69. It is designed as an escape valve the Defendants wish to flee through in their attempt to avoid being held accountable to the

¹⁷ See, e.g. S. C. Code 39-5-50 (authorizing the court to issue orders and injunctions to restrain and prevent violations of the Unfair Trade Practices Act); *Shaw v. Coleman*, 373 S.C. 485, 645 S.E.2d 252 (Ct. App, 2007)(finding permanent injunction appropriate remedy for nuisance); S.C. Code § 15-43-30 (authorizing temporary injunction for abatement of nuisance); S.C. Code § 15-69-90 (authorizing order restraining defendant from damaging, concealing or removing property); *Grosshuesch v. Cramer*, 367 S.C. 1, 623 S.E.2d 833 (2005)(temporary injunction proper for action alleging fraud).

The deprivation of Plaintiff’s right to seek injunctive relief is contrasted by the Defendants explicit statement that they are “entitled to injunctive and other equitable relief (without posting bond)” and “[Plaintiff] agree[s] to pay Producer and Network the sum of \$500,000 per breach plus disgorgement of any income that I may receive in connection with any such breach as liquidated damages.” See ¶ 12. Because the posting of a bond is mandatory for injunctive relief in South Carolina, this provision violates statutory law and is also unenforceable. See, e.g. *AJG Holdings, LLC v. Dunn*, 382 S.C. 43, 674 S.E.2d 505 (Ct. App. 2009); Rule 65(c), SCRPC (“Except in divorce, child custody and non-support actions where the giving of security is discretionary, no restraining order or temporary injunction shall issue **except upon the giving of security by the applicant**, in such sum as the court deems proper, for the payment of such costs and damages as may be incurred or suffered by any party who is found to have been wrongfully enjoined or restrained.”)

common and statutory laws and the public policy of the State of South Carolina despite fully availing themselves of those same laws and protections since they began filming Southern Charm in Charleston in 2013.

The magnitude of unconscionability that pervades the Arbitration Agreement would effectively operate to prevent Plaintiff from vindicating his statutory and/or common law rights, and bar Plaintiff from recovery on all *seventeen* causes of action. Such a result is exactly what the Defendants desire, and exactly what *requires* this Court to give significant consideration to a remedy in this situation that best serves the interests of public policy. *Simpson*, 373 S.C. 14, 644 S.E.2d 663, fn 9 (citing *Graham Oil Co. v. ARCO Prods. Co.*, 43 F.3d 1244, 1249 (9th Cir.1994))(noting that severance of illegal provisions is inappropriate when the entire arbitration clause represents an “integrated scheme to contravene public policy” (citations omitted)). “If illegality pervades the arbitration agreement such that only a disintegrated fragment would remain after hacking away the unenforceable parts, the judicial effort begins to look more like rewriting the contract than fulfilling the intent of the parties.” *Booker v. Robert Half Intn'l Inc.*, 413 F.3d 77, 84–85 (D.C.Cir.2005)(citations omitted).

The remedy that best serves the interests of public policy in this case is clear: non-enforcement of the entire “Arbitration Agreement.” Because the arbitration provision of paragraph 19 itself does not contain a severability clause, the Court cannot simply strike unconscionable provisions from this provision, it must strike the provision in its entirety. To red line the “Arbitration Agreement” would result in the Court rewriting it in its entirety, something it cannot do. *See Simpson*, 373 S.C. at 34, 644 S.E.2d at 673 (citing *Ingle v. Circuit City Stores, Inc.*, 328 F.3d 1165, 1180 (9th Cir.2003); (finding arbitration agreement wholly unenforceable

because of an “insidious pattern” of unconscionable provisions, and therefore “any earnest attempt to ameliorate the unconscionable aspects of [the] arbitration agreement would require [the] court to assume the role of contract author rather than interpreter”)); see also *In re Cotton Yarn Antitrust Litig.*, 406 F.Supp.2d 585, 604 (M.D.N.C.2005)(“[W]here, as here, multiple provisions of the arbitration clauses are inconsistent with Plaintiffs' ability to effectively vindicate their statutory rights ..., the Court finds that the better course of action in this case is to excise the arbitration clauses altogether.”). Accordingly, the whole four-page “Arbitration Agreement” should be struck as unconscionable, and the trial court’s decision affirmed in its entirety.

iv. S.C. Code 15-7-120(B)

The circumstances described herein and in Plaintiff’s Amended Complaint illustrate the procedural and substantive defects involved in the fraudulent procurement of Plaintiff’s signature in the first place. In addition to the fraudulent procurement of the arbitration provision itself, paragraph 19 of the Arbitration Agreement says, “all such proceedings will be conducted in the city of New York.” This provision runs afoul, again, of South Carolina statutory law and public policy. S.C. Code § 15–7–120(B) reads:

A provision in an arbitration agreement that arbitration proceedings must be held outside this State is not enforceable with respect to a cause of action, which, but for the arbitration agreement, is triable in the courts of this State. The enforceability of the remaining provisions of the arbitration agreement and the method of selecting a forum for the conduct of the arbitration proceedings is as provided in this title, the Federal Arbitration Act, and any applicable rules of arbitration.

As discussed above, this statute has been held to evidence a strong public policy statement by the State of South Carolina and a substantial right the arbitration provision purports to deprive from

the Plaintiff. It does not render any valid arbitration agreement unenforceable, it simply permits arbitrations to be held in South Carolina if the claims would otherwise be triable here. Accordingly, it is not preempted by federal law. *See, e.g. Zabinski v. Bright Acres Associates*, 346 S.C. 580, 592, 553 S.E.2d 110, 116 (2001)(explaining that state procedural rules that do not undermine the enforceability of an otherwise valid contract to arbitrate are not preempted as the FAA will preempt any state law that “completely invalidates the parties’ agreement to arbitrate”).

Tritech Elec. Inc. v. Frank M. Hall & Co., cited by the Defendants for the position § 15-7-120(B) is preempted by the FAA, is easily distinguishable. 343 S.C. 396, 400, 540 S.E.2d 864, 866 (Ct. App. 2000). First, for the reasons set forth above, state law governs the determination of the validity of the Arbitration Agreement when it is challenged. Second, in *Tritech*, the validity of the agreement to arbitrate was not at issue, yet the trial court held § 15-7-120 rendered the arbitration agreement unenforceable in its entirety. It of course does no such thing.

To the contrary, §15-7-120(B) specifically declares valid agreements to arbitrate to remain enforceable; the arbitration must simply occur within the State of South Carolina if otherwise proper. Further, § 15-7-120(C) states the section applies to all contracts generally. Thus, when read as a whole, § 15-7-120 is not substantive, nor does it invalidate any otherwise enforceable agreement to arbitrate. Rather, it simply authorizes venue in South Carolina for causes of action and arbitrations which would otherwise be properly adjudicated in South Carolina regardless of the type, substance, or nature of the contract in question. Accordingly, it

is proper to consider in the analysis of whether the Arbitration Agreement is invalid or unconscionable.

IV. ALL DEFENDANTS CANNOT COMPEL ARBITRATION.

Even if this court were to determine there has in fact been an agreement to arbitration formed between the parties which is valid and enforceable, which Plaintiff denies, the Arbitration Agreement would authorize only Defendant Haymaker to compel arbitration. “[T]he presumption in favor of arbitration applies to the scope of an arbitration agreement; it does not apply to the existence of such an agreement *or to the identity of the parties who may be bound to such an agreement.*” *Wilson v. Willis*, 426 S.C. 326, 337, 827 S.E.2d 167, 173 (2019). Even the policy favoring arbitration “cannot justify requiring litigants to forego a judicial remedy when they have not agreed to do so.” *Id.*

Whether an arbitration agreement may be enforced by or against nonsignatories, and under what circumstances, is an issue controlled by state law. *See Arthur Andersen LLP v. Carlisle*, 556 U.S. 624, 630–31, 630 n.5, 129 S.Ct. 1896, (2009) (observing state law is applicable to determine which contracts are binding and traditional principles of state law may permit a contract to be enforced by or against nonparties to a contract). South Carolina has recognized several theories that could enable nonsignatories to enforce arbitration agreements under general principles of contract and agency law, including (1) incorporation by reference, (2) assumption, (3) agency, (4) veil piercing/alter ego, and (5) estoppel. *Malloy v. Thompson*, 409

S.C. 557, 561–62, 762 S.E.2d 690, 692 (2014).¹⁸ Defendants presented none of these recognized grounds to the trial court, and present none of them now to this Court.

Instead, Defendants declare in conclusory fashion that all Defendants, including the Individual Defendants, are entitled to enforce the Arbitration Agreement because “South Carolina courts routinely allow non-contracting parties to enforce arbitration agreements when a plaintiff names both signatories and non-signatories in a lawsuit.” (App. Initial Brief, p. 46). Incorporating and relying upon ¶¶ 17 and 21 of the Arbitration Agreement (R. pp. 46-47), Defendants further contend the Individual Defendants are therefore “Released Parties” and third-party beneficiaries entitled to enforce ¶ 19 of the Arbitration Agreement. See App. Initial Brief, p. 47 (“each of the Defendants is fully entitled to enforce the Arbitration Agreement, as well as other provisions”).

Even assuming the Arbitration Agreement is valid and enforceable, which Plaintiff denies, a close reading of the Arbitration Agreement reveals the Individual Defendants cannot compel arbitration. The very first sentence of the Arbitration Agreement (R. p. 45) explicitly says it is one agreement between Plaintiff and Defendant Haymaker Media, Inc.:

“[t]his is an agreement between [Plaintiff] and Haymaker Media, Inc. (including its licensees, successors and assigns, and each of their respective parents, subsidiaries, agents and affiliates, and each of their respective officers, directors, shareholders, employees, agents and representatives (collectively, the “Producer”).

This sentence identifies the parties to the Arbitration Agreement as Plaintiff and Defendant Haymaker.¹⁹ It is not alleged Defendants Bravo, NBC, or Comcast are licensees, successors, or

¹⁸ In *Malloy*, the Court noted that, in addition to the five theories enumerated above, some federal courts have also recognized that a third-party beneficiary of a contract containing an arbitration clause may be compelled into arbitration as a nonsignatory. *Malloy*, 409 S.C. at 562, 762 S.E.2d at 692.

assigns of Defendant Haymaker, nor are the Individual Defendants alleged to be employees or agents of any of the Corporate Defendants, their parents or subsidiaries (*see, e.g.* R. pp. 94-96, Am. Compl. ¶¶ 2-11), and the Defendants make no such claim.

“Released Parties” is defined in ¶ 17 as “Producer, Network, and/or any of their parents, subsidiaries, assignees, licensees, affiliates or anyone associated with the Program.” (R. p. 46). Plaintiff alleges Defendants Bravo and Haymaker are owned in whole or part by Defendants NBC and Comcast. Thus, an objective reading of the Arbitration Agreement would include them as “Released Parties.”

For the reasons set forth above, the identity of “anyone associated with the program” is so vague and ambiguous as to be unenforceable. If this is the case, the Individual Defendants would not fall within the definition of “Released Parties.” Thus, they would not be third-party beneficiaries within the meaning of ¶ 21 who could be entitled to compel compliance with ¶ 19 of the Arbitration Agreement. Even if they all were “Released Parties” and therefore third-party beneficiaries, however, the explicit terms of ¶ 19 of the Arbitration Agreement do not entitle third-party beneficiaries to compel *arbitration*. The relevant language reads as follows:

Where any dispute in connection with this agreement arises, **the parties** agree to first try to resolve such dispute through confidential mediation. If mediation is unsuccessful, then all disputes, including the scope or applicability of this agreement to arbitrate, shall be resolved by final and binding arbitration administered by JAMS or its successor (“JAMS”) in accordance with its streamlined arbitration rules and procedures...**My agreement to mediate any and all disputes shall extend to the Released Parties.**

Arbitration Agreement ¶ 19 (emphasis added).

¹⁹ Defendant NBC is identified as the “Network” (Arbitration Agreement ¶ 1) but not as a “party” to the Arbitration Agreement.

The plain and obvious meaning of this provision is that the parties to the Arbitration Agreement (Plaintiff and Defendant Haymaker) are obligated to first mediate any dispute prior to arbitration. The agreement to *mediate* extends to the “Released Parties” but ¶ 19 says nothing of an agreement to *arbitrate* any dispute with anybody other than Defendant Haymaker, much less any “Released Parties.” Such a glaring omission can only be interpreted to mean the parties intended to grant “Released Parties” the right to compel mediation, but not arbitration. “When the language of a contract is plain and capable of legal construction, that language alone determines the instrument's force and effect.” *Ellis v. Taylor*, 316 S.C. 245, 248, 449 S.E.2d 487, 488 (1994). “The court's duty is to enforce the contract made by the parties regardless of its wisdom or folly, apparent unreasonableness, or the parties' failure to guard their rights carefully.” *Id.* Accordingly, even if this Court finds the Arbitration Agreement valid and enforceable, the only party to this litigation with any right to compel arbitration is Defendant Haymaker. Thus, the trial court’s decision should be affirmed with that limited exception.

V. OTHER SUSTAINING GROUNDS

Plaintiff, as prevailing party in the trial court, may raise on appeal any additional reasons the appellate court should affirm the trial court's ruling, regardless of whether those reasons have been presented to or ruled on by the trial court, although basis for Plaintiff's additional sustaining grounds must appear in the record on appeal. *I'On, LLC v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 526 S.E.2d 716 (2000). The appellate court may affirm any ruling, order, decision or judgment upon any ground(s) appearing in the Record on Appeal. SCACR, Rule 220 (c). Accordingly, to the extent necessary, Plaintiff requests the court exercise its right to affirm the trial court’s ruling on any ground appearing in the record including, but not limited to, the grounds set forth herein.

a. The Arbitration Agreement has been terminated.

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